September 2022

Service evaluation of the initial development and implementation of the Merseyside Navigator Programme (June 2021-June 2022)

Zara Quigg, Nadia Butler, Ellie McCoy, Jen Germain







Service evaluation of the initial development and implementation of the Merseyside Navigator Programme

(June 2021-June 2022)

Zara Quigg, Nadia Butler, Ellie McCoy, Jen Germain

Public Health Institute (PHI), Liverpool John Moores University (LJMU), World Health Organization Collaborating Centre for Violence Prevention, 3rd Floor Exchange Station, Tithebarn Street, Liverpool, L2 2QP

September 2022

For further information contact Zara Quigg <a>z.a.quigg@ljmu.ac.uk

About this report

Merseyside was one of 18 areas allocated funding in 2019, and each year thereafter by the UK Government to establish a Violence Reduction Unit. To inform the continued development of the Merseyside Violence Reduction Partnership (MVRP), in November 2019 (Quigg et al, 2020), July 2020 (Ashton and Quigg, 2021; Butler et al, 2021; Hough and Quigg, 2021; Quigg et al, 2021) and June 2021 the Merseyside Academics' Violence Prevention Partnership (MAVPP)¹ were commissioned to evaluate MVRP as a whole, and selected work programmes. This report forms one of a suite of outputs from this evaluation work programme, and specifically presents a service evaluation of the Merseyside Navigator Programme. Additional evaluation reports for 2021/22 explore:

- The overall development and implementation of the MVRP (whole system evaluation; Quigg et al, 2022).
- The Beacon Project (Bell and Quigg, 2022).
- The Mentors in Violence Prevention Programme (Butler et al, 2022a).
- Operation Empower (Bates et al, 2022).
- The Red Umbrella Project (McCoy et al, 2022).
- The whole system approach to reducing reoffending (Harrison et al, 2022).

Evaluation outputs are available on the MVRP website: www.merseysidevrp.com/what-we-do/

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank the following people and organisations for supporting the evaluation:

- The evaluation funders, MVRP.
- Members of the MVRP team and programme implementers who supported evaluation implementation including Lisa Cooper, Kerrie McLennan, Alex Jones, Jess Robinson and Lucy Cooper (Alder Hey Children's NHS Foundation Trust); Deborah Ward (Liverpool University NHS Trust); and Katy Cline, Dale Blackburn, Amy Bulmer, Andrew Miles, Damian Hurst and Gill Bainbridge (Merseyside Youth Association).
- All study participants and particularly practitioners and young people/parents who took part in surveys/interviews and provided their invaluable views on the early stages of this intervention.

¹ MAVPP includes academic representatives from Merseyside universities, who represent a range of disciplines covering public health, criminology, policing and psychology, and other expertise as required.



Executive summary

Across the United Kingdom, hospital-based violence prevention programmes (also referred to as Navigator Programmes) have started to emerge across various locations as part of a broader suite of interventions, and a national focus to prevent and respond to youth violence (following a public health approach). Since 2019, Merseyside Violence Reduction Partnership (MVRP) have funded the piloting of a Navigator Service at Alder Hey Children's NHS Foundation Trust (AHFT). Following review and learning from the pilot, a new Merseyside Navigator Programme was funded in 2021/2022, covering AHFT and Liverpool University Hospital Foundation Trust (LUHFT, including Aintree and Royal Liverpool Hospitals). Whilst evidence on the development, implementation and impacts of such programmes is starting to emerge, further evaluation is needed. Thus, MVRP commissioned a service evaluation of the early development and implementation of the new Merseyside Navigator Programme documentation and monitoring data, interviews with commissioners, delivery partners and hospital staff (at AHFT), and views from children, young people and their parents (captured by the Navigator Team via case study development and through an evaluation interview).

Overview of the Merseyside Navigator Programme

The Merseyside Navigator Programme has been developed and implemented by a third sector organisation (Merseyside Youth Association), with management and safeguarding support provided by AHFT and wider support from LUHFT, MVRP and other partners. The programme consists of a core 'Navigator' team (with specialisms in youth work) being embedded within the acute hospital settings to offer support to children and young people aged 10-24 years (and their parents/guardians) who have been affected by violence or are identified as at-risk of violence. The programme is based on the premise that healthcare settings offer a 'reachable moment' to engage with children and young people affected by, or at risk of violence. During a 'teachable moment' children and young people may be more likely to consider their life circumstances and if relevant engage in support to enhance their life chances. The programme consists of three core components – crisis and safety support; stabilisation support; and maintenance support (provided by wider community partners). Throughout all stages, a personalised approach to engaging and supporting children and young people is offered/provided. Critically, the role of the Navigator is to identify eligible children and young people, assess their needs and where relevant refer them for wider support in the community, and to follow up children and young people 3-months post-initial assessment to assess progression and identify any wider support needs.

Referrals to the Merseyside Navigator Programme and support provision

Between 01 September 2021 and 30 June 2022, the total number of referrals received across all acute hospital sites was 108 (Alder Hey n=58; Aintree n=10; Royal Liverpool, n=40).

- The primary source of referrals were Safeguarding Teams (47.2%) and Accident and Emergency Department (A&E) staff (30.6%).
- 75.9% of referrals were male; 81.5% were aged 13-17 years.
- The most common reasons for attendance triggering a referral to the programme was actual physical injury (perpetrated by another person) (48.2%), serious youth violence (22.2%) and bullying (14.8%).



- By the end of the June 2022, 69 of the 108 total referred cases were closed, 20 were ongoing and 19 were new referrals.
- During 01 September 2021 to 31 May 2022, an estimated 17% of eligible children and young people (i.e., children and young people aged 10-24 years recorded as an assault attendance across the three hospital A&Es) were referred to the Navigator Programme. Referral rates varied by trust from 44.9% at Alder Hey to 17.3% and 15.3% at Aintree and Royal Liverpool respectively.
 - Estimated referral rates increased slightly to 30% during February to May 2022, when the Navigator Programme was closer to being at full operation (Alder Hey 55.6%; Aintree 8.0%; Royal Liverpool 31.4%).

Programme monitoring data suggests that 39 children and young people had at least one meeting in person either at the hospital or elsewhere during which they were offered support from the Navigator and/or signposted to another service as appropriate. Examples of support provided include provision of immediate crisis and safety support; referral to support services relating to mental health and wellbeing; and providing parents/guardians with support (e.g., facilitating engagement with education providers to ensure a positive outcome for the children and young people).







Programme outcomes and impacts

The Navigator Programme has the following aimed outcomes and impacts:

- Child or young person recognises vulnerability / seriousness of situation.
- Children and young people's (and where relevant parent/guardians') needs are identified and supported.
- Children and young people are 'navigated' towards more positive life choices/experiences.
- Reduced re-victimisation / re-injury.
- Reduced violent homicide.
- Reduced reattendance at a hospital setting.

It was acknowledged that whilst it is too early in the development and implementation of the programme to evidence short and long-term impacts for children and young people, examples of positive outcomes were starting to emerge, particularly children and young people (and parent/guardians') needs being identified and supported. Wider outcomes included the support Navigators could provide in de-escalating tensions or aggressive behaviours within hospital settings and improving understanding of community issues and safeguarding concerns. The service evaluation includes three case studies, which aim to illustrate the nature and journey of children and young people engaging in the programme, and outcomes and impacts. These case studies demonstrate positive feedback from parents and children and young people, and outcomes such as children and young people engaging in family and community activities, and improved concentration enabling improved engagement in education.

"I was feeling unsafe after the incident, I didn't feel like I could work properly or focus on actually learning, it was a distraction I didn't need. Now I've got extra support, 100% I can concentrate more, I am staying in my lessons instead of having to go out and have a break." (Child)

"I would just like to say this year has been very difficult and challenging, but the support me and my [child] have received from [Navigators] has been fantastic. [Child] is finding the noise group really helps [them] detach from [their] worries and knowing [they] have someone other than me to share things with is a big help." (Parent)

"Absolutely over the moon with [Navigator] and the Navigator Team. We would never have been able to get such a great outcome for [child], had it not been for their support. We would not have even known where to start. Thanks to [Navigator] and the Navigator Service, we have our [child] back." (Parent)

"The relief when I spoke to the Navigator, it was huge and that then fed down to the kids. It made a big difference." (Parent)

Key learning from the service evaluation

Across all interviewees, focus group participants, and feedback from parents and one young person, there was overwhelming support for the implementation and continued development of the Navigator Programme. The service evaluation has identified several supporting factors to the development and implementation of the programme, including:

- MVRP funding, the adoption of a public health approach and support from a multi-agency steering group.
- Strong NHS leadership.



- Programme delivery via a specialist third sector organisation.
- A flexible approach to development and implementation.
- Provision of safeguarding arrangements for Navigators.
- Regular engagement between Navigators and NHS staff.

However, the programme has faced several challenges in implementing the programme within and across the hospital sites. These challenges relate to difficulties maintaining Navigators roles, and the complexity and time required to establish honorary NHS contracts for Navigators, to support and enable them to embed within each hospital. Mixed understanding and awareness of the referral criteria and processes for referring patients into the programme has also meant that some eligible patients may have been missed (as suggested by the estimated referral rate). Furthermore, not all children and young people (or parents/guardians) engage in the programme, with some not accepting the referral and refusing engagement immediately, and others dropping out of the programme at various stages.

Several other key considerations for programme implementation have been identified. For example, due to the severity of patient's injuries, it is not always appropriate for the Navigator to engage with the children and young people upon their arrival at the hospital. Where a child or young person is admitted to hospital, engagement whilst on a ward was noted as often a more appropriate space to engage. For some patients with complex injuries, a light-touch period of building a relationship and maintaining contact was needed prior to full assessment/engagement in the programme. This may mean that the initial engagement, assessment and referral process may be longer than the anticipated 2-3 weeks. Further, Navigators noted that due to the complex needs of children and young people, and the professional background of Navigators, it had been difficult to maintain the Navigator role boundaries of engagement and referral, rather than a continuing caseworker role. Whilst progress has been made in integrating Navigators within hospitals, across various teams and departments, many interviewees raised the importance of continuing to progress this further. Improving engagement was viewed as necessary to enhance communication between Navigators and hospital staff and raise awareness of the programme and referral pathways.

Assault-related A&E attendances across Merseyside

Across June 2021 to May 2022, there were 4,485 assault-related attendances across Merseyside A&Es A&Es; a third (33.3%; n=1,461) were aged 10-24 years (the target age group of the Navigator Programme). Amongst assault attendance aged 10-24 years only:

- 69.1% were male
- 65.5% self-referred to the A&E. The majority were booked into A&E between 4-7.59pm (21.2%) and 8pm-11.59pm (20.1%), and on a Saturday (19.2%) or Sunday (20.2%).
- 28.9% reported that the weapon used in their assault was a 'fist', 9.4% reported that a 'combination of body parts' were used, and 8.2% that the weapon was a blunt or sharp object.
- Across all A&Es (excluding Alder Hey), 23.6% were recorded as having consumed alcohol prior to the incident that led to their A&E attendance.
- 60.3% were discharged from the A&E, 11.5% were referred to another clinic or healthcare provider and 8.7% were admitted to hospital. 14.6% had left the A&E department before being seen for treatment or having refused treatment.



Conclusion and Recommendations

Findings from this service evaluation have alluded some key findings regarding the initial development and implementation of the Merseyside Navigator Programme. Whilst the programme has experienced many challenges to early implementation across the hospital sites, many of these have been or are close to being overcome. Referrals to the programme are increasing, and some positive outcomes and impacts for children and young people, and their families are starting to emerge. Despite this, further work is needed to ensure successful programme implementation across hospital sites and to increase the number of referrals to the programme. The Merseyside Navigator Programme requires further time to enable successful programme implementation, and to develop evidence on the outcomes and impacts of the programme. To support continued implementation, and programme monitoring and evaluation, we recommend the following activities:

Strategic

- Develop a strategy for identifying and securing long-term funding for the Merseyside Navigator Programme, to ensure adequate delivery time (e.g. 24 months) to establish, implement and assess outcomes, and if relevant expand to wider NHS settings.
- Increase awareness of the programme and role of Navigators across NHS Trusts, ensuring senior leadership, managers and front-line staff are able to fully support the programme, and refer relevant patients to the Navigators.
- Develop a strategy for monitoring and measuring outcomes and impacts, including impacts for children and young people and wider beneficiaries, and services (including repeat attendances to healthcare settings across the region), and commission an on-going process and impact evaluation over 12-18 months.
- Liaise with other Navigator/Hospital Based Violence Reduction Programmes to share learning.

Programme implementation

- Continue to review operating times and locations to maximise face-to-face engagement with children and young people during reachable and teachable moments (considering access within the A&Es and in-patient settings).
- Using A&E/hospital attendance data and insights from NHS staff, work with hospital sites to identify the most adequate times and locations for Navigators to be on-site, tailored to the needs of patients and hospital set-ups (considering each hospital has its own unique set-up, culture and patient profile).
- Build processes for embedding Navigators within relevant teams and departments across hospital sites.
- Provide clarity to NHS staff on the aim of the Navigator Programme and role of Navigators, and critically the referral criteria and pathways. Consider whether children and young people presenting with wider vulnerabilities that may increase risk of exposure to violence or be the result of previous exposure to violence (e.g., attendance due to substance use) should be eligible for referral to the programme.
- Recognise that due to the complexities in identifying and supporting children and young people presenting with violence-related injuries and wider vulnerabilities, the Navigators initial engagement and assessment processes may go beyond the anticipated 2–3-week period.
- Consider the value of each hospital trust providing safeguarding supervision for Navigators.



Programme monitoring and evaluation

- Consider the challenges and limitations of existing programme management and monitoring systems, and where feasible adapt routine data collection processes to ensure processes of implementation and outcomes and impacts can be fully captured and evidenced.
- Ensure the client journey captures the 'light touch' pre-engagement work that Navigators implement for some patients, prior to initial assessment (considering also that some may not go on to engage in the initial assessment). This pre-engagement work should be considered in programme monitoring. The implications of this for future impact evaluation should also be considered.



Contents

1.	Introduction	9
	1.1 Evaluation aim and objectives	9
	1.2 Methods	9
2.	Findings	10
	2.1 Pre-programme context	10
	2.2 Overview of the Merseyside Navigator Programme	10
	2.3 Fidelity	15
	2.4 Programme monitoring data	17
	2.5 Acceptability, outcomes and impacts	20
	2.6 Case studies – children and young people's journeys	24
	2.7 Facilitators to programme implementation	27
	2.8 Barriers to programme implementation	30
	2.9 Additional considerations for future development, implementation and sustainability	33
3.	Assault attendances to all Merseyside A&Es	40
	3.1 Hospital trust	41
	3.2 Gender	41
	3.3 Referral method, and time, day and month of attendance	42
	3.4 Weapon of use and alcohol consumption	43
	3.5 Outcome	43
4.	Programme Theory of Change, Conclusion and Key Recommendations	44
5.	References	47



1. Introduction

Across the United Kingdom (UK), hospital-based violence prevention programmes (also referred to as Navigator Programmes) have started to emerge across various locations as part of a broader suite of interventions, and a national focus to prevent and respond to youth violence (following a public health approach [Brice et al, 2020; Butler et al, 2022b; Goodall et al, 2017; Newbury et al, 2022; The Health Foundation, 2020]). The Youth Endowment Fund Toolkit, which aims to collate evidence on approaches to preventing violence suggests that such programmes may be effective in preventing violent crime, however the evidence of effectiveness is currently of low quality (YEF, 2022). Since 2019, Merseyside Violence Reduction Partnership (MVRP) have funded the piloting of a Navigator Service at Alder Hey Children's NHS Foundation Trust (AHFT). Following review and learning from the pilot, a new Merseyside Navigator Programme was funded in 2021/22, covering AHFT and Liverpool University Hospital Foundation Trust (LUHFT, including Aintree and Royal Liverpool hospital sites). Whilst evidence on the development, implementation and impacts of such programmes is starting to emerge, further evaluation is needed (Brice et al, 2020; YEF, 2022). Thus, in July 2021, the MVRP commissioned LJMU to conduct a service evaluation of the early development and implementation of the new Merseyside Navigator Programme.

1.1 Evaluation objectives

The service evaluation has two core objectives:

- 1. To monitor and describe the early development and implementation of the programme.
 - To describe the implementation of the programme
 - To explore the uptake of the programme amongst the target population
 - To elicit the facilitators and/or barriers to development and implementation
 - To identify areas for development and sustainability
- 2. To assess the perceptions and potential impacts of the Navigator programme.
 - To explore key stakeholder views on the programme
 - To identify the intended (and initial) outcomes and impacts of the programme

1.2 Methods

Ethical approval for the evaluation was provided by LJMU and AHFT². A mixed-methods approach was used to gather evidence, with findings triangulated to inform the service evaluation including:



Semi-structured interviews with MVRP team members (n=2 [including the MVRP health lead]), Navigators (n=2), AHFT practitioners (n=7 [2 supporting programme implementation]), and a child and parent engaged in the programme (n=2).



Desk based review of programme documentation and observations of programme activities (e.g., steering group meetings) to add context to the evaluation.



Review and analyses of programme monitoring data (covering 108 referrals), and A&E attendance data across Merseyside hospitals (accessed via TIIG).

² Whilst the full Merseyside Navigator Programme is considered in this report, due to evaluation timescales and variations in programme implementation across NHS Trusts, only Alder Hey staff, and patients referred from Alder Hey took part in the interviews.



2. Findings

2.1 Pre-programme context

In December 2019, the MVRP in collaboration with AHFT commenced a four-month trial of a Navigator Service. This included a full-time Navigator working in the hospital (during peak times for violence-related attendances) supporting children who had attended and had been identified as having experienced violence or being at risk of violence, and/or other related issues (e.g., substance use; exploitation). A case study of the trial alluded to some positive outcomes for children, but equally identified areas for development for programme delivery (Quigg et al, 2020). Insight work with young people via the Liverpool Safeguarding Children's Partnership and AHFT Young Persons Advisory Group identified their views about the role and impact of the Navigator Service to ensure children and young people shape the support provided. During 2020/21, the Navigator Service continued to operate at AHFT despite COVID-19 restrictions. Piloting of the service during 2019/20 and 2020/21 alluded to several considerations for future development and implementation including (MVRP, 2021):

- The name of the 'Navigators' needs to resonate with young people.
- The health landscape is complex and violence-focused interventions in NHS services compete with other pressing priorities, including but not limited to COVID-19.
- Not everyone who receives a violence-related injury will attend an A&E and may attend a different health setting, such as a walk-in centre.
- The Navigator is not always present at the A&E, meaning children and young people may be missed.

Critically, partners acknowledged that a Merseyside-wide Navigator Programme delivery model needed to be developed, to enable the future implementation and expansion of the programme across Merseyside hospitals (MVRP, 2021).

"...staff within hospitals were seeing the same faces coming through. So young people representing every couple of weeks, every month and obviously the staff within the hospitals are there to treat them medically, they'll refer them to safeguards but nothing else. So that's why Navigators was identified as needed so that the young people get the support and then hopefully don't re-enter the hospital due to violence. So, it's supporting the NHS with, that stress on the staff and the reattendance figures." (Navigator 1)

2.2 Overview of the Merseyside Navigator Programme

2.2.1 Navigator programme set up

Commissioning and project management: Following competitive tender, in May 2021 Merseyside Youth Association (MYA) were commissioned by the MVRP to set up and implement the Merseyside Navigator Programme. In addition, AHFT were commissioned to provide NHS leadership and assist with programme management and safeguarding support³, and a programme steering group was established, chaired by the AHFT lead and including additional NHS leads from AHFT, professionals

³ Following piloting of the programme within AHFT from January 2020 to March 2021.



from across MYA (including Navigators and wider staff members who could advise and support programme development and implementation), and the MVRP. In the first few months, additional partners were identified and added to the steering group including Liverpool University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (LUHFT), the North West Ambulance Service (NWAS) and the LJMU service evaluation team. The group, which meets monthly, aims to provide a platform to share programme development and implementation updates, and raise areas for development and solutions for addressing key challenges.

Recruitment of Navigators: Prior to commissioning MYA, and recruiting Navigators, partners undertook a scoping exercise to identify the evidence on Navigator Programmes and experience of programme implementation across the UK. This included meeting other Navigator Programme delivery partners and undertaking insight work with participants of the initial Alder Hey Navigator Service and young people in the community who have been victims of violence. This informed partners of the various ways such programmes have been and are being delivered, the importance of piloting, monitoring, and evaluating the programme (given the limited but emerging evidence base), and the skills and qualities a Navigator should have. Insight work identified that whilst children and young people respected NHS clinicians and trusted them to do their job, they recognised that they were more able to have meaningful conversations with youth workers. Thus, MYA Navigators are individuals with specialist youth engagement experience. To enable MYA staff to work within hospital trusts, all Navigators had to apply for honorary contracts with each trust and complete relevant hospital training. Funding from the MVRP supported the employment of three full-time Navigators, and one Navigator with a project management role⁴, until 31st March 2022. Due to delays in programme implementation (see Section 2.8), additional funding was provided for 2022/23 to ensure learning from programme implementation, including areas for development and outcomes and impacts could be further understood.

Identification and initial set up across hospital trusts: In June/July 2021, MYA recruited three Navigators (one with the project management role; a fourth Navigator was not recruited) to commence delivery of the hospital-based Navigator Programme across two NHS Trusts (AHFT and LUHFT), implementing a hub (AHFT) and bespoke model. The programme was expanded from AHFT to LUHFT (covering Aintree and Royal Liverpool hospitals) to ensure the programme could reach children and young people most in need across the region. Information from the MVRP TIIG data hub⁵ on assault-related Accident and Emergency Department (A&E) attendances was used to identify hospitals with the highest number of attendances within the target age group (10-24 years). Typically, Navigators have been based within the hospital Monday-Friday, on a rota across the three hospitals; in May 2022 additional shifts were added covering evenings and weekend nights (see Section 2.3).

Resources and activities required for programme implementation: A range of resources and wider activities have supported the implementation of the Navigator Programme including:

• A community-based Navigator delivery partner: Funded by the MVRP, MYA have established and implemented the Merseyside Navigator Programme. This includes employment of three full-time Navigators, and input from MYA staff to support programme development, implementation and management.

⁴ Including project administration, monitoring, and reporting, and engaging with partners within and external to the hospital trusts.

⁵ <u>https://tiig.ljmu.ac.uk/</u>



- NHS leadership, project management and safeguarding supervision: Funded via the MVRP, the NHS lead (AHFT) provide programme leadership, management and safeguarding supervision for Navigators. A lead NHS staff member chairs programme steering group meetings and supports MYA and the Navigators to establish the programme across hospital trusts (e.g., making contacts with relevant personnel, setting up honorary contracts). This is facilitated by the support of wider staff within AHFT and LUFHT (e.g., safeguarding teams). As part of their funded role, AHFT has responsibility for providing Navigators with safeguarding supervision, which involves a safeguarding lead providing case management and safeguarding support to Navigators routinely on a weekly basis, and ad hoc as required.
- Three Navigators, one with supervisory / leadership role (employed by MYA).
- An online referral system (accessible to each Trust and Navigator Programme team) to enable NHS staff to refer children and young people to the programme.
- An online case management system, including programme monitoring/distanced travelled data collection⁶ (IPATUS, accessible to the Navigator Programme team only).
- **Promotional materials** to raise awareness of the programme within hospitals (to staff and patients), across the community and wider partners.
- **Establishment of NHS honorary contracts for Navigators,** providing formal access to the hospital, including IT systems to enable exploration of relevant hospital attendance data.
- Engagement with hospital staff and referral agencies, via various activities, to set up programme implementation and referral processes.

Figure 1: Overview of Navigator Programme implementation timeframe (2021-2022)



Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

* Established contacts and referral system from LUHFT, but delays in staff contracts / access to LUHFT IT system.

⁶ The Strengths and Difficulty Questionnaire (SDQ) is collected via paper-based forms, with scores entered on an internal database.



2.2.2 Referral and engagement processes

Promotion of the programme across hospitals (and the community): Throughout 2021/22, the NHS lead, MYA and MVRP have implemented a range of activities to raise awareness of the programme across the NHS trusts and community. This includes both the NHS lead and Navigators attending management and staff meetings, the use of promotional materials within the hospital and presentations at community conferences. Across the three sites, Navigators are based within the hospital at different locations, with hospital staff informed of their location and presence when on-site. Identified locations are those which are practically suitable for the hospital and programme delivery and consider patient type



and flow through the hospital. For example, in Alder Hey, Navigators have a dedicated office within A&E, whilst in Aintree and Royal Liverpool they sit within the Safeguarding Team Office (taking direct referrals from the team). Navigators regularly frequent the A&E reception at all three hospitals to ensure staff are aware of their presence, and they have further opportunity to identify relevant referrals. Further, they will visit wards to identify those who may not have been identified prior to their inpatient stay, or where it was not possible to engage with them at that stage of their healthcare pathway (e.g., because they were too injured to engage with the Navigator). This is particularly so at Aintree, which is a Major Trauma Centre.

Referral pathways: Any staff member within the hospital trusts can refer a child or young person to the programme. Staff are advised that children and young people need to meet the following criteria to be eligible for the programme:

- Age 10-24 years.
- They have identified or suspect the patient may be vulnerable to exposure to violence, exploitation or other criminal activity.

Staff can refer directly to the Navigator in person whilst on site or via an online referral form (accessible via the hospital IT systems) and are encouraged to refer even if they are unsure if the person fully meets the criteria. Referrals can be made at any stage of the young person's journey within the hospital. One interviewee described an example of a child who had attended with non-violence related issues, but upon further assessment reported experience of bullying and violence, and thus were subsequently referred to the programme. Within Alder Hey, it is anticipated that all violence-related attendances are referred to the hospital safeguarding team. As such, the safeguarding team has set up processes to ensure all their referrals are reviewed to assess if they are also eligible for referral to the Navigator programme, and if no prior referral has been made, the team will refer on.

"We've not had anyone been referred who's not even being assaulted. You know, they've all been within the criteria. So, I think we've got that message out quite well to the staff because so far, it's worked fine." (Navigator 1)



"We've recently had a case that had attended with other issues, was admitted as an inpatient, but during [a] psychology assessment they disclosed issues around bullying and violence, so we made a referral based on that." (NHS staff 2)

Navigators may also identify children and young people eligible for referral to the programme, through direct engagement with patients and staff, and/or reviewing patient records whilst working in hospital trusts.

2.2.3 Navigator programme content and delivery

The Merseyside Navigator Programme consists of three core components – crisis and safety support; stabilisation support; and maintenance support⁷. Throughout all stages, a personalised approach to engaging and supporting children and young people is offered/provided.

Crisis and safety support: Once referrals are made, Navigators may engage with a child/young person in several ways. If onsite and it is appropriate to engage with the child/young person (i.e., they are in a stable position), the Navigator will speak directly to them, and/or their parent/guardian (if relevant), whilst in the hospital. Where it is not possible to directly engage, then the Navigator will gather more information from hospital staff, and contact the child/young person, and/or their parent/guardian (if relevant), at a later point, either within the hospital (e.g., if admitted to hospital) and/or via telephone/letter/email following their discharge from hospital. On occasion, Navigators are unable to make or continue post-hospital contact with the child/young person. In these circumstances, the Navigator will continue to try to engage the child/young person and contact them via various methods (e.g., telephone, email, letter) for up to four weeks, at which point if no contact has been made then no further contact is attempted.

"We have a list that we go through. So, we give three phone calls, we leave voicemails and messages, then we'll do an email. If they do have an email address, which not all of them do, they don't all provide emails, then we'll send a letter out to the home. We give it four weeks. The process is four weeks that will keep them open. And if we've not heard from them in that time, they've not got back to any of the ways we've contacted them, then we close them off." (Navigator

1)

A key aim of the initial contact is to build trust and develop a relationship with the child/young person. Navigators then proceed to assess the child/young person's immediate risks and needs, discussing safety and support networks, and the support the Navigator programme can offer (with the child/young person and Navigator jointly determining if the Navigator is the right person/service to provide support). All eligible children/young people can take part in the programme unless they are already engaged with multiple support services relevant to their needs (and thus don't require additional support).

Stabilisation support: Whilst children and young people may accept a referral to the programme and initially engage, it may take some time following the engagement to complete the full Navigator

⁷ The Navigator Programme is not intended to deliver gang exit work; medium to long-term support and case management work; mentoring; counselling; any form of physical healthcare or health intervention or, specialist interventions and support where there is a recognised qualification requirement, for instance mental health, neurodevelopment, or substance misuse.



Programme assessment, which may be conducted in the hospital, or the community once discharged (or both).

A personalised approach is taken with each individual who engages in the programme, which involves short (~three weeks) but intensive support provided in the community setting (and/or hospital if admitted) by the Navigator, including an assessment of existing statutory involvement, one-to-one support as required, needs assessment, goal setting, development of a co-designed action plan and progression development to enable safe, confident and sustainable referral to, and engagement with wider community partners (e.g. early help/youth offending teams). Navigators aim to meet children and young people in the community at a time and location that is suitable for them (MYA have multiple buildings and have access to partner building across Merseyside).

"So, we're a bit of a filter we're like the middle person. So, we're not ongoing caseworkers that will work with them for a long period of time. Ours is a bit of a shorter period of meeting them and offering support because we just need to guide them to the specialist places that can offer them what they need." (Navigator 1)

Maintenance support: Following identification of support needs, children and young people are then referred from the Navigator Programme to community partners as relevant, enabling access to a bespoke menu of interventions delivered via a trusting relationship within a trauma-informed setting, with the Navigators tracking and assessing distance travelled (using a tool developed in-house by the Navigator team) and any wider support needs three months post-referral. Young people exit the programme when no further support is required. At the time of data analyses (July), only a few children and young people had progressed to the 3-month follow-up stage, with only one child completing the 3-month follow-up assessment. Section 2.6 provides selected case study examples to illustrate the nature and journey of children and young people engaging in the programme.

2.3 Fidelity

At the time of data analyses (July), the programme has been delivered as planned (notwithstanding some delays in programme implementation, see Section 2.8). Throughout, there has been flexibility in when and where Navigators are present across the hospital trusts. For example, to ensure staff are available at peak times for violence-related attendances, Navigators have piloted shifts during weekend and evening hours. In one A&E, Friday evening shifts (8pm-midnight) were found to be particularly quiet, with NHS staff feeding back that the most optimal times are likely between 10pm-2am Friday night, and 5-9am Saturday and Sunday morning. Subsequently Navigators have trialled shifts during these hours to see if this would increase referrals and programme uptake (feedback from the Navigator Lead suggests that this had no impact of referrals). Furthermore, staff vary their locations within each hospital trust to maximise the potential for identifying eligible children and young people, with consideration of the physical space available within each trust, patient flow through the hospital and the nature of patients attending. For example:

- At Alder Hey, initially Navigators sat within a staff building away from A&E, visiting A&E as requested. Since February, Navigators have had their own office space within A&E and visit other hospital wards to alert staff to their presence and work with staff across locations to identify and support children and young people.
- At Aintree, whilst staff initially focused on having a presence within A&E, limitations on space made this difficult. Further, violence-related attendances to A&E appeared to be beyond the age cohort of the programme, and thus few referrals were identified from A&E, with most



coming from the trauma ward. Thus, Navigators now sit within the safeguarding team, and visit A&E and wards to alert staff to their presence and work with staff across locations to identify and support young people.

At Royal Liverpool, again whilst staff initially focused on having a presence within A&E, limitations on space made this difficult. Further, concerns were raised around the safety of Navigators when lone working in such a large hospital, that has a large proportion of intoxicated patients during weekend nights (due to being located next to the region's main nightlife area). Thus, Navigators have a seat/base behind A&E reception, where they can observe and identify potential eligible children and young people as they enter the A&E. Navigators visit wards when they know a patient is on the ward who is eligible (identified by the safeguarding team or other referral).

"It was a new project; it was a bit of trial and error with where we would base. So that's changed a few times. So, it's different for each hospital." (Navigator 1)



Figure 2: Overview of children and young people's journey through the Merseyside Navigator Programme



2.4 Programme monitoring data

The case management and programme monitoring data available to the evaluation team was limited due to the ability of the Navigator team to extract data from the IAPTUS case management system. Thus, for the purposes of this service evaluation, a subset of the data was extracted covering referrals and engagement and distanced travelled (based on the SDQ and Distance travelled tool). This data can provide an indication of the number of referrals made to the programme, when, from where and by whom. Further, it can illustrate the nature of referrals, patient demographics, whether patients engaged in the programme, and any changes in children and young people's outcomes from baseline to 3-months post engagement. Access to further data would have provided greater understanding of children and young people's experience of engaging with the Navigator Programme and referral to wider support. It is critical for future evaluation that processes are established to enable extraction of such data to inform process and impact evaluations. In addition, Box 4 (Section 4) provides a list of recommendations for enhancing data collection.

Throughout 2021/22, several amendments were made to the referral and monitoring processes to ensure that the system captured the data required to support programme implementation and monitoring. For example, the referral drop down was amended to include Navigator (who may directly engage within the hospital). In addition, the close case drop down option was amended to include non-engagement and disengaging, to capture details of children and young people who may have been referred / accepted a referral, but do not answer any communication from the Navigator, or start to disengage.

2.4.1 Overview of referrals and estimated referral rate

Between 01 September 2021 and 30 June 2022, the total number of referrals received across all sites was 108 (Alder Hey n=58; Aintree n=10; Royal, n=40) (Figure 3). Figure 4 presents the number of eligible referrals by month and hospital site. Referrals increased substantially from February 2022 when the near full complement of Navigators were recruited and engaging across hospital sites. The majority (88.0%; n=95) of referrals were online via the IAPTUS system, with the rest received onsite in the A&E or ward. The primary sources of referrals were from Safeguarding team's (47.2%; n=51) and A&E staff (30.6%; n=33), with the rest of referrals coming from CAMHS (12.0%; n=13), the Trauma team (8.3%; n=9) and other sources (1.86%; n=2).

Section 3 provides details of assault-related attendances to the Merseyside A&Es identified via the TIIG Injury Surveillance System. This data shows that during September 2021 to May 2022, 577 children and young people aged 10-24 years attended Alder Hey (n=118), Royal Liverpool (n=261) and Aintree (n=198) A&Es. During this same time period, Navigator Programme data show that 100 children and young people aged 10-24 years were referred to the programme from Alder Hey (n=53), Royal Liverpool (n=40) and Aintree (n=7) A&Es. Based on this data, less than one in five (17%) eligible children and young people were referred to the Navigator Programme. Referral rates varied by trust from 44.9% at Alder Hey to 3.5% and 15.3% at Aintree and Royal Liverpool respectively.

Considering February to May 2022 only, when the Navigator Programme was closer to being at full operation, data show that 265 children and young people aged 10-24 years attended Alder Hey (n=72), Royal Liverpool (n=105) and Aintree (n=88) A&Es. During this time, 80 children and young people were referred to the programme. Based on this data, only three in ten eligible children and young people



were referred to the Navigator Programme. Referral rates varied by trust from 55.6% at Alder Hey to 8.0% and 31.4% at Aintree and Royal Liverpool respectively.











2.4.2 Demographics and reason for presentation

Approximately three quarters (75.9%; n=82) of referrals were male. The majority (81.5%; n=88) of referred individuals were aged 13-17 years, whilst 13.0% (n=14) were aged 18+ years, and 5.6% (n=6) were 12 years and under. The most common reason for attendance triggering a referral to the programme was actual physical injury (API; e.g. stabbing/assault or an injury such as a head wound that they have said is an accident) which accounted for almost half (48.2%; n=52) of all referred cases. The next most common primary reasons were serious youth violence (SYV; where the patient had disclosed another person had injured them, or perpetrated other forms of violence including social media threats/verbal abuse; 22.2%; n=24) and bullying (14.8%; n=16). Other reasons for referral included child criminal exploitation (CCE) (5.6%; n=6), domestic violence (4.6%; n=5), child sexual exploitation (1.9%; n=2) and other (2.8%; n=3). Secondary reasons for referral included API (41.7%; n=25), SYV (33.3%; n=20), self-harm (11.7%; n=7), CCE (8.3%; n=5) and bullying (5.0%; n=3).

"You're dealing with really severely injured young people...He was shot. It is actually the second time he has been shot. He's also been stabbed as well." (Navigator 2)



"Most of our bullying comes from Alder Hey, so most of it is Alder Hey. We do get the odd ones from LUHFT but you usually find that the serious injuries come from LUHFT come from Aintree." (Navigator 1)

"I've got a couple of bullying cases now on my caseload that are pretty horrendous...the level that some people will go to be horrible to other people is just mind blowing." (Navigator 2)

2.4.3 Level of engagement

By the end of the June 2022, 69 of the 108 total referred cases were closed, 20 were ongoing and 19 were new referrals. Navigators noted how their IT system (IAPTUS) was limited in its ability to describe a child or young person's journey. Currently information on reasons for case closure is in text format so it is not always clear why a case is closed.

"So for example, if a young person has met with us a few times and we've positively referred them out, but then they don't engage with us after that point, currently on the system it shows that their last contact was that they disengaged. So it looks like a negative when actually they've been positively referred out somewhere. So at the minute we think kind of how we can adjust more things within IAPTUS to truly reflect the work that we've done." (Navigator 1)

Data suggests that 39 young people had at least one meeting in person either at the hospital or elsewhere during which they were offered support from the Navigator and/or signposted to another service as appropriate. Navigators identified several scenarios and points where a child or young person may drop out of the programme. Following initial engagement within the hospital and during the 'teachable moment', a child/young person (and/or parent / guardian) may accept a referral to the programme, but in subsequent discussions may then decline, or not respond to any communication from the Navigator. Further, they may engage, accept referrals to services / interventions (and take part), but then not engage with the Navigator for a follow-up appointment (e.g. at the 3 month stage). One Navigator reported that they thought children and young people may not engage at this point if they have felt they have received all the support they need and do wish to receive further support.

2.4.4 Distanced travelled

To inform goal setting, service provision and monitoring of children and young people's distanced travelled towards goals and positive outcomes, the Navigators aim to implement a SDQ survey and Distance travelled tool with all children and young people during their initial assessment and at the 3-month follow-up period. At the time of data extraction/analyses (July), baseline data of SDQ score were available for eight children and young people only, with data for one young person at baseline and 3-month follow-up. Anecdotal feedback from Navigators suggests that children and young people do not like to complete the SDQ and that they feel more comfortable completing the Distance travelled tool due to its visual nature. However, baseline data of the Distance travelled tool were only available for 10 children and young people, with data for one young person at baseline and 3-month follow-up. Figures 5 and 6 show baseline and 3-month follow up scores for one young person to demonstrate the type of outcome data that can be collected using these tools to inform future evaluation and monitoring processes.





Figure 5: Example of distanced travelled for one young person (SDQ)





2.5 Acceptability, outcomes and impacts

2.5.1 Acceptability

Across all interviews, focus groups, and feedback from parents and one young person, there was overwhelming support for the implementation and continued development of the Navigator Programme. Navigators reported that they have received a positive reception when introducing the programme across hospital trusts, with them now embedded across various teams and departments.



"A positive impact within the hospitals because a lot of the staff are feeding back that it's a much needing programme. You know they've needed it for years." (Navigator 1)

"I think that the role of the Navigators is so important because they can be there at a point in time when the young person may want to open up to, to look at alternatives, to look at how to move away and they can break that cycle." (NHS staff 3)

"[Navigator] has been so supportive. They have been on hand to advise every step of the way. Could not praise the Navigator Programme more highly." (Parent, reported via Navigator)

"I would just like to say this year has been very difficult and challenging, but the support me and my [child] have received from [Navigator] and [Navigator] has been fantastic." (Parent, reported via Navigator)

"Absolutely over the moon with [Navigator] and the Navigator Team. We would never have been able to get such a great outcome for [Child], had it not been for their support. We wouldn't have even known where to start. Thanks to [Navigator] and the Navigator Service, we've got our [Child] back" (Parent, reported via Navigator)

"Well, this is the first job that I've had in the long time for actually, not only do I love my job and I love what I do. But I get paid correctly for it as well. And I find myself really loving my role." (Navigator 2)

However, some NHS staff continued to be unclear about the remit of the programme. Subsequently, in comparison to the previous Navigator Service at Alder Hey, some staff viewed the new programme as less effective in supporting staff to identify and refer eligible children and young people to the programme.

"...there's a real difference between the two, I've dealt with a very proactive service at the beginning and now it feels like it's a very sort of signposting service." (NHS staff – focus group participant)

2.5.2 Outcomes and impacts

The Navigator programme has the following aimed short-term outcomes and core aimed impacts for those who are supported through the programme (see Logic Model for additional outcomes and wider aimed impacts):

Outcomes:

- Child or young person recognises vulnerability / seriousness of situation.
- Child or young person's (and where relevant parent/guardians) needs are identified and supported.
- Children and young people are 'navigated' towards more positive life choices/experiences.

Impacts:

- Reduction in violence victimisation / perpetration
- Reduction in re-attendance / re-injury
- Improved mental and physical health and wellbeing
- Reduction in presentation at police custody suites, health and other criminal justice services



• Reduction in costs to the healthcare system and wider partners

Whilst practitioners acknowledged that it was too early in the development and implementation of the programme to evidence short and long-term impacts for children and young people, examples of positive outcomes were starting to emerge. Despite these positive outcomes, practitioners acknowledged that it may be difficult to measure the impact of the programme. For example, the process of referring children and young people to other services means other services provide the majority of support needed and understanding these experiences and impacts of experiences may be difficult to follow-up.

Identification of children, young people, and parent/guardian support needs: Navigators and NHS staff provided a range of examples of the identification of often hidden or unmet support needs of children and young people, and their parent/guardians. One example was given of a young person who appeared confident and who initially raised no issues with confidence and ability to make friends. However, upon further assessment it become apparent that this was not the case, and subsequently the young person was offered a different menu of support options. Various examples were also provided around supporting parents/guardians to help them understand their own and statutory agencies' (e.g., schools) responsibilities to ensure children can attend education settings, and what support they may need to facilitate their child's engagement in education.

"There was a young person who was more chatty and who was really chatty, seemed confident and then all of [their] questions around confidence and like friendships [on SDQ/Distance travelled tool] were really low, so we then use that to refer to YPAS. Because then when we met [them] again, we asked them and said I've had a little look at your questions and you've said you're really suffering with your confidence and you can't really make new friends and so would you want a bit help around that? And [they] said, yeah. So that was something that I think without having the questions here, we wouldn't have picked up because they never said it face-to-face." (Navigator 1)

"They come into Alder Hey. You engage with them, but the minute you start to then take that apart and you start to delve into that case, it starts to open up and there is so much more to it. So you find yourself supporting the family as well as that young person. You know very often parent/guardians, they just don't know. They don't understand what they can do, what they can't do, what their legal rights are, what their responsibilities are." (Navigator 2)

Another example was provided where a child/young person within the hospital was recorded on the IT system as having a 'body part' injury – based on this data alone they would not be eligible for the programme. However, whilst the Navigator was on-site and attending a staff 'huddle' (a meeting reviewing current patients), it was discussed that the injury was the result of an assault by someone who was bullying the child/young person, and thus a referral was made.

"We had a [child/young person] present in A&E with [a body part] that had been damaged...on the face of it a clear case of 'other injury' that would be recorded on the TIIG data. But the Navigator using their intuition engages the [child/young person] and her [parent] and begins to learn that it wasn't an accident, that other [children and young people] were responsible... without the Navigator being in place and making that engagement we don't know how that episode shapes



that [child/young person's] mental health and well-being and silences [their] victimisation." (Delivery partner)

Provision of immediate support, referral to, and engagement with additional support: Navigators provide direct support to children and young people and their parents/guardians within the hospital environment and community. This includes providing a reassuring 'non-statutory' support option, identification of hidden harms and support needs, advocating on the children and young people's behalf, and referral to wider support. Navigators reported that the initial support period is personcentred and thus can vary in length and the activities implemented. Whilst the quality of accessible programme monitoring data means it is not possible to currently determine referral pathways for children and young people accepting wider support, examples of referrals and children and young people, and their parent/guardian accepting referrals were identified through interviews and other programme data. This included children and young people engaging in services provided via MYA and/or other partners (e.g., schools/YPAS/CAMHS) to support their mental health and wellbeing and reduce risks of and/or exposure to violence.

"Because I can go in there and I can engage with them on their level, and also advocate on their behalf. They do have to engage with the police and they do have to engage with the medical staff and they do have to engage with social care. But I can make that engagement so much more painless." (Navigator 2)

"But we know that they've now got access to a school mentor and so we do contact schools as well. We are liaising with the schools. And we know that they have been referred into CAMHS and are receiving CAMHS support." (Navigator 1)

Further, parents were supported to re-engage their child in education, by working with schools to make the environment safer, providing children with access to a school mentor, or where required supporting the parents to move their child to another school.

"The ones that we've engaged, they've had positive outcomes from it, there's been a couple of young people who've had support of moves with school and with support around bullying. So they've been really positive outcomes." (Navigator 1)

"So what I find is I will engage with school if a parent guardian wants me to do that, I will do that. I can do that, but I would rather support parent guardian to do that. Because it's so much more powerful. It's good that school knows that I'm involved or that we're involved because it's an extra agency. And the more agencies that, families can have in their corner, the better, it gives it more weight." (Navigator 2)

Navigators noted that they were able to raise awareness of available support in the community to both children and young people and their parents and how to access and engage with such support. This was seen as vital as many community members are not aware of the support available within their community and/or how to access this.



"Our ability to be able to engage and then refer. People don't know what's around them. They don't understand, they don't know that they might be an amazing boxing gym just up the road, so because they have special needs they can access free. They don't know that, but we do, so our ability to be able to give that offer that little bit of sunshine and that little ray of sunshine, you know what I mean? In what is a pretty dark time, it's so important." (Navigator 2)

De-escalate tensions / aggressive behaviours within hospital setting: Navigators spoke about the role they can have in de-escalating tensions and or aggressive behaviours demonstrated by children and young people (and/or parents/guardians) within the hospital setting. Such behaviours were identified as being the result of children and young people, and/or their parents/guardians being scared, stressed and in a state of fight-or-flight because of their experiences and/or the injury sustained, along with wider issues such as exploitation and intimidation.

"When a young person's coming in, they're scared, and parents and guardians are scared. Some of them are in serious situations, they're being exploited, they're being victimised. And they are desperately unhappy and desperately scared. So, to have somebody there on the site that can deescalate that situation, can support them within that crisis...I can de-escalate that situation to a certain extent, make them feel a little bit better, make them feel held a little bit more. And that's so important to young people and to their families." (Navigator 2)

Improving understanding of community issues / safeguarding concerns: One interviewee noted the important role of Navigators and NHS staff in identifying community issues and safeguarding concerns that may not come to the attention of other services. An example was provided of children attending the hospital with markings that looked like a tattoo; upon further investigation this was identified as something to indicate children were part of a particular group of individuals which may pose risks for them and others. The importance of sharing such information across staff within the trust and external agencies was noted as critical in identifying hidden harms and safeguarding concerns amongst children and young people.

"The aim as I see it is to give the young person a positive pathway away from violence. So, trying to stop that cycle of violence from continuing, for us it's not preventative for the first instance because they've obviously come to us due to violence or they're already involved somehow, whether it be involvement in county lines, CSE, or whether they're a victim of bullying and so various reasons. And then for us, it's about stopping that from reoccurring. So not only for the young person to support them and educate them on why that lifestyle might be wrong or if they are getting exploited, give them support to try and get away from that". (Navigator 1)

2.6 Case studies – children and young people's journeys

This section provides three case studies, two short case studies produced by the Navigator Programme team, and one produced by the evaluation team based on evaluation data. These selected examples of case studies aim to illustrate the nature and journey of children and young people engaging in the programme, and outcomes and impacts. Case studies have been depersonalised and some details removed/edited to maintain confidentially.



Box 2: Short case study 2 (engagement up to 5 weeks)

Referral and key concerns/history: The young person was referred to the Navigator Programme through the Safeguarding Team. The young person was the victim of an assault while in school by a group of people involved in a gang. The young person lives at home with their parents and siblings and has a very well-structured social life.

Navigator Programme Intervention: The young person was engaged with the Navigator Programme for five weeks but due to their busy extra-curricular activity schedule did not require further Navigator engagement. In the initial stages of engagement, the young person's parent required support with engagement with mainstream education to secure a positive outcome for the young person.

Outcomes and impacts of Navigator intervention: With Navigator support, the young person's parent was able to secure a positive outcome for the young person and they have now successfully moved schools. Parent declined further Navigator intervention, as it was deemed not needed.

Parent feedback: "Absolutely over the moon with [Navigator] and the Navigator Team. We would never have been able to get such a great outcome for [child], had it not been for their support. We wouldn't have even known where to start. Thanks to [Navigator] and the Navigator Service, we've got our [child] back."

Box 3: Short case study 1 (engagement across 3 months)

Referral and key concerns/history: The young person was referred to the Navigator Programme through Alder Hey A&E, due to breaking a bone during a fight at home with their sibling. The young person had been struggling with their emotions and had recently started to attend a new school and was awaiting mental health support.

Navigator Programme Intervention: The young person and parent met with Navigators and their interests and support needs were identified. The young person had an interest in music and was referred into the MYA Noise Project (attending for 2-3 months) and into YPAS to support with coping with their emotions and mental health. YPAS have recently assigned the young person a practitioner, so sessions should hopefully start with YPAS shortly. In the meantime, the young person has been assigned a CAMHS mentor in school, which has helped them a lot. Navigators kept in contact with the young person's parent throughout the 3-month period.

Outcomes and impacts of Navigator intervention: The Navigator intervention helped the young person to find a positive activity to engage with outside of school (music through the Noise project), as well as referring them to mental health support and mentoring (YPAS).

Parent feedback: "I would just like to say this year has been very difficult and challenging, but the support me and my [child] have received from [Navigators] has been fantastic. [Child] is finding the noise group really helps [them] detach from [their] worries and knowing [they] have someone other than me to share things with is a big help."

Box 4: Depth case study



Gemma* (<16 years)

Before Navigator: Gemma was unhappy at school; she had experienced bullying and did not feel safe - because of worrying she could not focus on her lessons, and she was worried she would not be able to do her school work and fall behind. Gemma complained each day that she did not want to get out of bed and go to school Gemma's mum was worried, she felt helpless and frustrated that she couldn't help Gemma. The worries were also impacting on Gemma's sibling.

Following an assault at school leading to an A&E attendance, Gemma and her mum were told about the Navigator programme. Following referral, Gemma had her first appointment with the Navigator quickly.

After 4 weeks, Gemma's mum declined further intervention because their situation had improved, and Gemma was positively engaged with other activities.

*

Gemma's mum said that it was reassuring knowing that the Navigator was there to support her family. Her mum had improved knowledge and awareness, which improved her confidence and empowered her to meet with the school. She now felt listened to and that the school understood her situation and were more supportive.



Now: Since engaging with the Navigator programme, Gemma only had one day where she did not want to go to school. She feels safer and happier in school and can concentrate and get on with her work. Gemma also feels she can talk to her mum and teachers when she needs to. There have been no other incidents at school.

Gemma felt happier in general, which meant she was happier at home. Her mum was also worried less meaning the whole family felt better.

"The relief when I spoke to the Navigator, it was huge and that then fed down to the kids. It made a big difference" (Mum)



"I was feeling unsafe after the incident, I didn't feel like I could work properly or focus on actually learning, it was a distraction I didn't need. Now I've got extra support, 100% I can concentrate more, I am staying in my lessons instead of having to go out and have a break"



2.7 Facilitators to programme implementation

2.7.1 NHS leadership

Having a senior NHS lead with responsibility for supporting the development, implementation and embedding of the programme, and single points of contact within different teams within the hospitals (e.g., safeguarding) was viewed by many as a key facilitator. The support from the NHS lead in particular enabled the MVRP, MYA and Navigators to understand the NHS culture, system and processes, progress with obtaining NHS honorary contracts and relevant training, set up referral pathways and processes, and support the promotion of the programme across the NHS, supporting the Navigators to build relations across relevant departments and staff. Having single points of contacts across multiple teams also enabled the Navigators to establish good relationships and be integrated into relevant teams, have a presence across the hospitals and, access support to implement the programme when needed (e.g., securing space for the Navigators to work). The varying structures and patient groups across the hospitals has meant that the Navigators have integrated with staff in different teams and in different ways, often facilitated by the single point of contacts (see Section 2.3).

"...really valuable because [NHS lead] being able to link us in with who we've needed to start with within Alder Hey because as you can imagine, the hospital is so big that for me to just have gone in, I wouldn't know where to really start. I'd go with A&E, but having links with all the other departments, I wouldn't have known about that. So having someone as a point of contact who can link you up and invite me to speak on like the 'grand rounds' and speak to the CAMHS team so it just spreads awareness then across the whole hospital about the project." (Navigator 1)

"It's good having [NHS lead] to be able to open any the doors that the VRP couldn't have done to sort of help set up these things and I think having the sort of role that Alder Hey has taken to help us get into the other hospitals itself. I honestly don't think I would have been able to open those doors. I wouldn't have been able to get into those hospitals as quick as [NHS lead] was able to, sort of share links and introduce people. So having that bit was invaluable for me. Without that role of Alder Hey and [NHS lead] in Alder Hey, we wouldn't have been able to make the links as quick as we wanted to within the Aintree and the Royal." (Delivery Partner 1)

2.7.2 Regular and sustained engagement with staff via meetings, informal discussions, and promotional material

During this early implementation phase, Navigators and supporting partners have implemented a range of activities to engage with senior leaders and frontline practitioners to raise awareness of the programme, to establish implementation and develop referral pathways into the programme. Having regular engagement with relevant practitioners via various communication methods was identified as critical to engaging staff in the programme. Various methods have been used to engage staff including attendance at staff meetings, informal discussions and the sharing of promotional materials. Promotional materials were identified as key to promoting the programme amongst staff and children and young people, particularly when Navigators were not on-site. As a result, Navigators and key delivery partners noted that awareness of the programme and referrals into the programme had increased (as seen in the programme monitoring data).



"It's not very often I come across a member of medical staff that don't know what a Navigator is." (Navigator 2)

"So that we've got that awareness there for the staff because we're not on site and they don't have a visual reminder then we might not get the referrals coming through at the level that they have been. So again, the posters around the hospital. So, I think all of that to publicise the project we've needed and then also the leaflets we can give to young people when we meet them and they leave. So, it's something for them to take away that explains the programme." (Navigator 2)

2.7.3 Programme delivery by specialist third sector organisation

Establishment of the programme and implementation via MYA, a locally established service providing a range of support for children and young people and adults, was viewed as a key facilitator to programme development, implementation and long-term sustainability. This was particularly so as MYA already have an established programme of work with children and young people across the region. Further, they have a range of interventions and activities that children and young people as well as parents/guardians can engage in to support their health and well-being. Related to this, MYA have a number of offices across the region where Navigators can engage children and young people and parents/guardians in a location that is more suitable for them. From an NHS perspective, having an external third sector organisation deliver the programme was seen as beneficial particularly due to the resource pressures the NHS are under, the ability of third sector organisations to implement such programmes and the skills and knowledge they have to engage with children and young people.

"That's been a very useful resource of having just open meeting space to actually do the follow up meetings with young people." (Navigator 1)

"So, I think they've been excellent... you know there's a real usefulness of third sector organisations in providing these services because they have a bit of, we'll just get on and do it type attitude that the NHS can be hamstrung by." (NHS staff 1)

The use of specialist youth workers, rather than hospital staff, to engage with and support the children and young people, and parents/guardians was identified as vital to the success of the programme.

"I'm a firm believer that third sector organisations who work with young people really do have those skills and expertise. You know the consultant or the nurse is not always going to be the best person at engaging with the young person." (NHS staff 1)

"A youth worker has the ability to be able to engage with the young person that nobody else does, because of the use of informal education. A young person will engage with the youth worker when he won't engage with a policeman, they won't engage with a doctor or a nurse. They won't engage with the teacher. They won't engage with the social worker. But they will engage with the youth worker. And that's the magical ability that a youth worker has to be able to engage the hardest to reach young people." (Navigator 2)

"I think it's for the young people and family to know that there's something and someone other than health or education who were trained specifically to work with these young people and



families. I think that is a real benefit and positive for this. I mean young people; they're very difficult to engage with anyway. My experience, I've had it 'Well, you're a nurse. You're going to, you know, you're going to tell my family about this." (NHS staff 2)

The presence of a Navigator onsite within the hospitals, who could access patient information and engage with staff and patients, was identified as improving the identification of children and young people who may need support. Examples were provided where patients had been recorded on the hospital system as sustaining an injury, with no indication that it was an assault-related injury. However, through wider investigation hospital staff had subsequently identified the injury was assault-related and thus they may be at risk of wider harm. Despite this however, in some circumstances referral to the Navigator Programme was only made because the Navigator was onsite and engaging with those staff members, for example during team meetings. This highlights the need to keep raising awareness of the programme and referral options, and the importance of staff looking beyond the presenting complaint and enquiring more about the underlying cause of the injury.

"[NHS staff] seen that young [child] as the [injury] not as a whole person." (NHS staff, programme meeting)

"It might be that the story is slightly different to what they've told staff. So, we try and approach the young person on their level a little bit more. I think a lot of like researchers found that young people can see even medical staff as quite authoritative, and they might not give them the whole story. They might see them as a bit of an authority figure that they don't trust. So, for us, our uniforms are hoodies and T-shirts. So, we try to be quite relaxed when speaking to them, so they don't see us as, you know an authoritative figure, so we'll then speak to them there and then in the hospital if parents and guardians there, we'll speak to them as well and just chat them about what's happened and what's support the family have got." (Navigator 1)

2.7.4 Flexible approach to development and implementation

Continually reflecting upon programme development and implementation and adapting to identified gaps or areas for development, and thus taking a flexible approach during this initial year of set up was seen as important to ensure effective programme delivery in the long-term. For example, trialling different locations for the Navigators to work across hospital trusts and the times and dates of their working hours has supported Navigators to explore locations and times that can support identification and referral of children and young people into the programme.

2.7.5 Safeguarding arrangements

A number of interviewees highlighted the importance of ensuring that Navigators have supervision to ensure that safeguarding arrangements for children and young people were being identified and appropriately addressed, and that the Navigator can work within the boundaries of their role, referring to other services as appropriate. Furthermore, supervision enabled Navigators to debrief, and consider and address their own safeguarding and wellbeing needs.

"That supervision process gives you an opportunity to step back away from the emotional and the day-to-day of that case and say, right, so what are the key principles here? What are we doing?



What we worried about? What do we need to do and the actions? And puts it very sort of clear and it was when we did that, they were like oh yeah, I can see now". (NHS staff 2)

"I think that bits [safeguarding] really important because it's making the Navigator feel safe and secure and supported. Its making sure that anything that they're worried about the child is acted upon and also it puts that additional ring of safety around the whole programme." (NHS staff 2)

"Yeah, I think at the injury level, you know, severity of injury has posed a little bit of an issue for us on two or three occasions now...that concept of serious life changing injury that's been a bit of a challenge. I went to see a young man who's...in critical and I have to be honest with you, I couldn't even walk, I couldn't even go in the room. He was in such a bad, way, shot through the neck. And he's, really poorly, like in a really bad way. And that was just heart breaking. They're just really difficult...another young lady been so severely bullied that she's...got an eating disorder as a result of the bullying because the bullying was so severe and she's now being fed through tube...so the emotional impact of that is, it was quite, well, wasn't nice." (Navigator 2)

2.7.6 MVRP funding, public health approach, and steering group meetings

The provision of funding by MVRP has been vital to the development and implementation of the Merseyside Navigator Programme. Without this funding, the programme would not be implemented. Many interviewees noted that the establishment of a multi-agency programme steering group that focused on developing the programme from the ground up whilst also following an evidence-based public health approach had been equally important in driving programme development and implementation. With regular communication between partners and discussion about barriers and ways to overcome barriers, issues were overcome, facilitating programme set up.

"The support from the funder, I think VRP, have been really helpful with it all and they haven't pressured us with numbers, it's being quite relaxed and they're allowed us to kind of go with the pace with it because staffing was such a big issue. There was no pressure on - you have to get certain numbers within the first year. So yeah, I think that has helped us just having the VRP regularly checking in and making sure that we were OK and just communicating with each other." (Navigator 1)

2.8 Barriers to programme implementation

2.8.1 Maintaining Navigators and setting up NHS honorary contracts

Whilst three (of the planned four) Navigators were recruited to the programme in July 2021, there were issues in maintaining and establishing the programme. Processes for obtaining NHS honorary contracts (including training completion) meant that the Navigators did not commence engagement with children and young people until September 2021. Critically, within three months the team lost two Navigators, with a gap in recruitment thereafter. Short-term programme funding was identified as a significant contributor to the lack of ability to maintain and recruit Navigators.

"So you know if you get offered a permanent contract somewhere else, you can see why someone might leave. They only have a nine-month contract [with the Navigator Programme]." (Navigator 1)



"So the funding side of it like the recruitment side and the retainment side, due to the nature of the fund, really impeded the initial start of it." (Delivery partner 1)

"So not knowing if you're going to be having a job next month or in six months' time. Getting personal satisfaction out of the job as well. If you're not getting any referrals and you're not getting any followers, it must seem like a bit of a rubbish job and you know you get demoralised, your heart's not in it, you get attrition, people resign and will resign." (Delivery partner 2)

From September-December 2020 one Navigator continued to implement the programme, predominantly focusing on Alder Hey, before further progressing with Aintree and Royal Liverpool from December. Whilst the near-full complement of three Navigators was re-established in January 2021 (with contracts up to the end of March 2022 only), processes for obtaining NHS honorary contracts etc. meant that the team of three Navigators only re-commenced in February/March 2022. At the time of data analyses, Navigators were still working towards being fully established in LUHFT, including having full honorary contracts set up to enable full access and engagement with the hospitals.

"It takes ages to get anything embedded in the NHS. So not only did we have all the practicalities of how we recruit and have honorary contracts and access to systems for the new Navigators, but actually now they're embedded, we're seeing referrals start to increase." NHS staff 1

"The two main challenges of being staff recruitment and retaining staff when you're on a short term contract, people do naturally look elsewhere if they're only on a short contract and if they get offered a full time position, you can see why they would take that. And then also get access in the hospitals and get in those honorary contracts in place have been the two main challenges." (Navigator 1)

"So at the moment [hospital] is not providing many [referrals] because I think they're having difficulty, the Navigators have found it difficult to get established, and now we've unpicked the reasons why - it looks like it's probably a contract issue, and we've unpicked the reasons why the honorary contract hasn't been put forward, that's a big win. Once we get the honorary contracts, they get e-mail addresses and badges and stuff like that...they can work smarter; they can work from a hub." (Delivery partner 2)

2.8.2 Mixed understanding and awareness of referral criteria and processes

The gap between the previous Navigator Service at Alder Hey ending and the new programme being set up was also highlighted as an issue in maintaining momentum of the service at Alder Hey, despite the referral processes being maintained for the new Navigators to pick up once they started.

"It all just took time, we had a gap between when we provided it and when MYA took it up just because of the way funding was. So, to help with that gap, we didn't close the referral platform down internally we let staff keep referring. The referrals came into the safeguarding team when we triaged them to make sure if there was anyone, we were worried about we were still picking them up from a safeguarding perspective." NHS Staff 1



Some NHS staff interviewed noted that there had been limited understanding of the aims of the 'new' Navigator Programme amongst staff, meaning that some potentially eligible children and young people had not been referred. Whilst interviewees engaged in programme implementation thought that this had been rectified, others who were keen to refer patients to the programme were still somewhat unsure of the referral criteria, or the aim of the programme and role of the Navigators (particularly compared to the previous Navigator Service).

"If I'm honest, I don't know any clear aims from the Navigator project and apart from the fact that obviously we refer children into the service if they have been a victim of or involved in some sort of trauma that's been surrounded by a violent crime. However, we recently realised that, or we were told, and I think this is a bit of an ambiguity, they had to suffer the trauma from the violent crime rather than not suffering the trauma from the violent crime, but still being part of an organisation or exploitation ring or things like that. So, it's a little bit unclear for me if I'm honest as to what the intervention and what the criteria are." (NHS staff – focus group participant)

"I haven't been 100% cleared on what their role is...because the girl we've tried to refer in I'm being told no, so it's just trying to make it clear of what we can refer and what is acceptable referral." (NHS staff – focus group participant)

"No, it was something I was aware of [referral criteria] and assumed, but other colleagues within the trust [were not aware], so it came through one of the meetings I was at that we can't refer to them. And I was like, absolutely you can!" (NHS staff 2)

"Well, we've not really referred any because we were told that we couldn't refer them unless their admission was as a direct result of a violent assault. So, since the new VRU system has been in place, we've not been able to signpost many. However, on our list of patients, I think somebody did once." (NHS staff – focus group participant)

"Yeah. And I don't know whether that's the referral platform, the online referral system or whether that's not being clear about the aims and who we can refer in and things because we've since then had one of the safeguarding nurses actually said, well, we've had a couple of referrals from the wards, and they gave them all the information and they did take the referral. But the information that we've been told previously was no, they have to be admitted as a result of a violent it's like, well we would have had loads." (NHS staff – focus group participant)

2.8.3 Limited engagement and/or disengagement from children and young people and parents/guardians

Engagement in the Navigator Programme is voluntary. Navigators noted that some children and young people do not accept the referral and refuse engagement immediately. Others may initially accept the referral, and start to engage with a Navigator, but disengage at a later point, which could be within the initial period of engagement/follow-up/support with the Navigator or following referral out to other services. Navigators noted examples of patients accepting the referral within hospital and starting to engage with the Navigator, but then once discharged would refuse to either further engage, or not answer any communication from the Navigator.



"But yeah, three young people who have met them, they're at the hospital within that teachable moment where the young person is meant to be a bit more, you know, in a bit of crisis, they are more likely to want the support and accept it. I've met them there and then spoke to them. With some, attempts have been on site for a couple of days, so I've even been able to complete some of the paperwork there at the hospital with them and then once they've left, well I've met them once and left. They then don't follow up, so they won't answer the phone. We send letters out, they don't reply. And so, it's hard then because we are, you know, a voluntary programme, they don't have to work with us. You know, we're not a statutory service, so there's nothing really we can do when they don't engage at that level." (Navigator 1)

Where parents/guardians were involved, they too could disengage them and their child from the programme, with one example of a parent ending their child's engagement with the programme postdischarge as they thought their child was fine and did not need support.

"Sometimes the parents and guardians we'll follow up, and then they'll decline and say, 'Oh no, we've thought about it and actually he's fine. He doesn't need it'. And again, it's hard because we can't force anything on anyone." (Navigator 1)

Navigators also reported difficulties in following up children and young people who had been referred for support. Here, Navigators follow up clients at three-months following their initial referral to the programme to review progress and identify if further support is required, or the case can be closed. Navigators discussed that difficulties in following up clients were multifaceted. Whilst some may have disengaged from support generally, and thus don't reply to communication from the Navigator, it was also felt that others who had received support may also disengage from support when their support needs have been met, and similarly may not engage with/reply to communication from the Navigator at the follow-up stage.

"They've met us, we've referred them out, they're getting the support they need, so for them they're not really interested in having a three-month review with us because we've kind of given them what they've wanted and then they've left then". (Navigator 1)

2.9 Additional considerations for future development, implementation and sustainability

2.9.1 Severity of injury, complexity of cases and ability to immediately engage

Due to the severity of patient's injuries, it is not always appropriate for the Navigator to engage with the child/young person upon their arrival at the hospital. Where a child or young person is admitted to hospital, engagement whilst on a ward was noted as often a more appropriate space to engage. For others, engagement may be more appropriate and successful once they are back in the community setting.

"Young people they're just so poorly, they aren't even able, they're not physically able to engage within the service but you know, we want to support them and we want to get them the support, the best support that we can, whether that's engaging with them in the hospital while they're recovering or whether that's out in the community after they've been discharged." (Navigator 2)



One Navigator provided an example of a case where the young person was hospitalised for a significant period, and whilst their condition meant that they could not immediately engage fully in the Navigator Programme, the Navigator maintained regular contact with them and their family throughout. This enabled a trusting relationship to be developed and a continued link with the patient to increase the likelihood of their engagement at a relevant point.

"So I've engaged with him in hospital, been up and visited him, visited him while he was on board. He had certain medical, there was there were things going on with him. He was refusing medication and he was quite angry about the fact that his phone had been taken by the police. So when he was on board, he was quite angry really. I was able to go up and engage with him on a number of occasions, have a good chat with him. He was quite open and sort of offered him and also offered his father as well, who I saw a number of occasions while I was there, a little bit of support. Just little things like I go down and get him a brew or that kind of thing, little things and just generally just, you know, their support sort of thing and now that he's back at home I just check in with him every week or so. Just to check in with him to see how he's getting on, see how he's recovering. He knows what we do because obviously I have spoken to him in depth about the service, he's open to the service and it's just about checking in with him on a regular basis just to keep a check on his recovery. Are things getting better or getting worse or, that sort of thing? So it's just about keeping up that engagement in relation to that young man." (Navigator 2)

2.9.2 Maintaining boundaries of the Navigator role

The Merseyside Navigator model consists of Navigators providing initial engagement, support and signposting for wider support over an anticipated 2–3-week period. For several cases this was not practical, with Navigators having to engage for a longer period. This was due to some children and young people having such complex injuries that immediate engagement was not always possible, and a light-touch period of building a relationship and maintaining contact was needed instead. Navigators noted that due to the complex needs of children and young people, and the professional background of Navigators, it had been difficult to maintain the boundaries of the Navigator role of engagement and referral, rather than a continuing caseworker role.

"But we still know that they might be struggling emotionally, and they're not going to have two or three meetings with us and all of a sudden, all of their anger issues go, or they are no longer getting bullied or whatever the issue is. So for us, it's getting used to we're not ongoing caseworkers. For us, our role is done there. We've referred them out. They might still be struggling, but the places we've referred them to are the ones that are gonna help with that. So for us, it's been a learning curve of our role because I think we're all used to as youth workers, working with them for long period of time. That is kind of a new process that we're getting used to. I think we all naturally want to try and work with them for as long as we can, but that's something that we will work on as a team." (Navigator 1)

"A little bit of my worry is making sure that the Navigators work within their boundaries of their sort of role, and not get pulled into different aspects that may not necessarily be appropriate for them. So say for an instance there was a case where it was a significant issue around bullying and there'd been sort of violence involved and more than that, Navigators have sort of supported, explored it with the family, spoken to school. But then that parent started using that Navigator as a confidant. So it was like okay, what you need to do now is say that's fine, I can help with that,



but I will refer on to other people you need to link in with them and sort of almost pull back a little bit because they were getting pulled into something that wasn't necessarily appropriate for the service." (NHS Staff 2)

Despite acknowledgement that Navigators need to maintain the boundaries of their role, a range of interviewees raised the importance of spending adequate time with children and young people to build trusting relationships and patients having a continued single point of contact for support both within and external to the hospital environment. As example of the Trauma Team at Alder Hey providing such a role was noted as being something that children and young people and parents/guardians find beneficial (as was the similar role provided by the previous Navigator Service).

"I think they need that consistency. A lot of these kids...our families need the consistency because they might see a different doctor every day, whereas they'll see us as [Trauma team] a small team all the time and they've got our numbers directly. They can contact us, they can text us, they can message us, they can do whatever to get in touch with us. So, they feel supported, and I think a lot of it is about them feeling supported and when something's gone on, they know who to call, they know who to contact. And I think in the community at the moment that there isn't that out there." (NHS staff – focus group participant)

"Spend a bit more time with the person you're talking to. And if the Navigators can do that, they will establish a deeper connection and that then deeper connection will incentivise follow up. And then there's longevity of follow up." (Delivery partner 2)

2.9.3 Integrate Navigators further across teams/hospital departments

Whilst progress has been made in integrating Navigators within hospitals, across various teams and departments, most interviewees raised the importance to continuing to progress this further. Whilst this was the case across all hospitals, enhancing engagement with relevant teams and departments across LUFHT was highlighted as a particular area for development. Improving engagement was viewed as necessary to improve communication between Navigators and hospital staff, raise awareness of the programme and enhance referral pathways. Feeding back to staff on the progress of referred children and young people was also noted by one participant as important to embedding this further, and ensuring staff are aware of the support their patients have been offered and/or engaged with.

"I don't feel I particularly get clarity around or assurances around the fact that what we've picked up, like when they disclose something to us or when we've picked up and unpicked it with safeguarding that there's issues around exploitation or there's a criminality risk there. I don't feel like I can be confident in that person having the right support in place as they leave us particularly because obviously it gets put to the Navigator and we don't really hear anything from that then." (NHS staff – focus group participant)

The capacity issues experienced by Navigators was noted as having limited their ability to engage with teams within hospital trusts and it is hoped that as this is nearly resolved, their engagement and presence across the hospitals can improve.


"So when we more staff, the idea would be we are in each hospital every single day, so Monday to Friday someone at Aintree from like 9 till 9 and give you like a bit of a staff handover. Same with Alder Hey and the Royal because at the moment we try and be there, one of us each day, but we're not there all day, so we might still be missing those young people on the ground and then we do still have training and bank holidays and things like that. So, the holidays where none of us are at the sites. And so I think having a bigger team will help with that, just like on the ground presence even more." (Navigator 1)

"Every now and again, I come across medical staff you who just don't know what a Navigator is. They don't know what we do." (Navigator 1)

Providing Navigators with supervision across trusts was also seen as important to ensuring this is adequately resourced as the programme develops/expands and those providing supervision can access patient records to inform supervision discussions and monitoring of patient and programme progression.

"I find it difficult offering supervision for the other sites. Obviously, the Navigators have access to Alder Hey's electronic system, but I'm having to try and base supervision on what I'm hearing from them, and I've got not necessarily the full context of what the challenges have been, what they've [patient] presented with which is, you know, I get, I can't have access to all other records because that's not appropriate. But that's quite challenging and I feel it would be more beneficial once the service develops better within Aintree and within Liverpool that maybe they're supervised by someone within the trusts there." NHS staff 2

2.9.4 Importance of face-to-face contact at relevant teachable moment points

Being more present within hospitals was seen as important to ensuring Navigators could engage with children and young people at the earliest opportunity, within the 'teachable moment period'. Related to this was ensuring that where, when and how Navigators engage with staff and children and young people is tailored to meet the unique and varying needs of each hospital and children and young people. Navigators were initially scheduled to work Monday-Friday during daytime hours. Experience to date however suggests that peak hours to engage with eligible children and young people vary by hospital. So, whilst at Alder Hey and Aintree weekday daytime hours were viewed as appropriate as eligible children are present during anytime of the week (Alder Hey), and major trauma cases are often admitted for days enabling engagement on wards (Aintree), at the Royal Liverpool peak times were identified by hospital staff as being weekends nights. Subsequently, the Navigators had trialled various shift patterns to ensure they have a presence in the Royal Liverpool during their peak periods. Ensuring that Navigators can work in pairs, particularly within A&Es during weekend nights (a peak time for alcohol-related attendances) was noted as a key consideration, and something that may prove challenging given there are only three Navigators. Section 3 provides an overview of assault-related attendances to A&Es to inform future planning.

"I think the Navigators need to extend, so need to physically meet that human being who they want to have that relationship with because one of the challenges I've seen is if they don't meet them but hear about these patients and give them a ring, I can imagine myself basically, just if I was a victim of violence and I get a random phone call going, 'Hi, I'm one of the Navigators. Can we talk so I can help to make things better'? Every time, you're not going to answer that. Basically,



if you've met them face to face, if you've had that connection. And as I said the depth of connection, personally, I think is stronger outside of the war zone - that is casualty and it is a war zone. You know, there is blood, sweat, tears and bangs and crackles everywhere. So you know, in a calmer environment, when there is a greater chance of having a connection that, I think will lead to a greater chance of follow up." (Delivery partner 2)

"But I do think like [P1] said the essential thing is having that key person who we can actually physically liaise with, verbally liaise with, put the referral in and then they see the family. I think it's really important." (NHS staff – focus group participant)

"We're missing some tricks and I think we need to be more proactive with what we're doing. We need to be face to face with what we're doing because they need to be able to build a trust in those people, not just given leaflets or put in touch with somebody else. I think they need that consistency." (NHS staff – focus group participant)

"I mean that's my big aim is to actually extend way beyond the emergency department where I think that the teachable moment is much deeper, more reachable, more teachable, is in that calm after the storm on the wards." (Delivery partner 2)

One interviewee noted that they and other hospital staff referred to Navigators as youth workers when speaking to children and young people, rather than giving them their Navigator title, as this resonated more with children and young people and helped them to understand the purpose and role of the Navigator.

2.9.5 Pressures on NHS services and NHS buy in

Interviewees noted that at both national and local levels, the NHS are increasing engaging in the implementation of a public health approach to violence prevention, and towards supporting violence prevention activities within and beyond the healthcare setting. Despite this, due to the demands placed on health services, it was acknowledged that more concerted efforts were needed to embed the Navigator Programme within participating (and wider) trusts, however that this may take some time. The effects of COVID-19 and delays in wider healthcare treatment for children and young people, and the demand for services, was noted as influencing the level of priority of violence prevention programmes within NHS Trusts.

"One big thing, the National Health Service wants to do now, and I'll have to say very proud of my organisation for leading on this is to become an anchor organisation to actually extend well beyond just being a hospital and making people better, to making societal change. An example is Knifesavers; they've embraced this... and then Navigators as well you know the trust has taken this on board and so to sell it to the organisation and the executives of the organisation will be proof of effect and that could be based on precedent." (Delivery partner 2)

2.9.6 Ability to measure, and the need to focus on long-term impacts

Interviews raised several considerations for measuring impacts including:

• Ensuring case studies and qualitative data are collected and shared to demonstrate the journey of children and young people through and following engagement in the programme.



- Considering the complexities of measuring hospital (re)attendance/admission. For example, Alder Hey is focused on children and young people and thus future readmissions would likely be at other hospitals within the region. Further, children and young people experiencing repeated exposure to violence leading to healthcare treatment may attend different healthcare settings.
- Considering the quality of the recording of assault-related attendance within A&E datasets.
- Ensuring impacts explore risk factors and protective factors for (re)exposure to violence such as improved resilience, mental health and well-being and engagement in education/employment.

"It's really difficult to evidence what may or may not happen in the future with or without an intervention. And another thing within youth work, youth services that's always been the difficult thing. You know I think youth workers recognise you plant a seed, and you know that that seed can grow, it may grow tomorrow it may grow in five years, it may never grow. But I think it's about giving people the best opportunity to get the best support to understand the situations [they're in] and then in this instance and situation, hopefully break the cycle of potential violence and moving young people away and giving them safe options for the future." NHS staff 3

With some of these considerations in mind, multiple NHS staff raised the importance of working towards linking NHS datasets to enable children and young people to be tracked across multiple healthcare settings over time.

"If there's a way of physically and electronically following these patients up over years and years and years, that will give a very powerful bit of evidence at all data." (Delivery partner 2)

"If we can get in now [at Alder Hey], we might then actually see an improvement in that violence moving forward. And if that then reduces Aintree's admissions for violent crime, then we've done our job well here. So, we not might not see an immediate impact that these kids don't come back because often they wouldn't come back anyway because six months down the line, they wouldn't come to us. So, it's difficult it's I appreciate that would be very difficult to even from a data perspective to be able to measure that, but it would be really nice to see that maybe what we're doing here then potentially had an impact on what Aintree are seeing there." (NHS staff – focus group participant)

"The sustainability of this programme has got to be built on the long-term outcomes for children and young people. It won't be built on short term outcome. Short term outcomes are what the emergency department does...you're safe and we've done our bit. But Navigators are that longitudinal? You know the intervention on [date] will have no impact on that 14-year-old until they're like 25 and then it may radically turn their life around." NHS staff 1

2.9.10 Consider expanding programme inclusion criteria to include underlying risk factors for violence

A few interviewees noted that many children and young people identified as vulnerable had risk factors related to violence, such as presentations relating to alcohol or substance misuse. Interviewees



felt that it was important to examine the understanding causes of presenting issues such as alcohol or substance misuse to identify wider safeguarding concerns and/or if engagement in this health risk behaviour is the result of previous exposure to violence. As such, some interviews thought that the referral criteria should be broadened to include such patients.

"So I would say anybody that's been a victim of a violent crime and that's not necessarily that they've been injured in it, but they've been a victim of a violent crime. Or anybody that we then find out information that are involved in those crimes, they're involved in criminal exploitation or anybody that's at risk." (NHS staff – focus group participant)

"It misses the point. It misses the opportunity. Then we've got a child who's an impatient, who we have suspicions are involved in either criminality or they have been exploited or whatever the circle of, you know, difficulties they may be having. You've missed that opportunity if that traumatic experience hasn't happened directly as a result of the violent crime. So, I feel like you're missing a trick, really. If you don't get involved with these kids a lot sooner." (NHS staff – focus group participant)

"The violence reduction unit were particularly, via the Home Office, cited on violent incidents going on. But actually, what we've picked up is they're [children] presenting with drug and alcohol issues as a result of something that's happened somewhere else that they haven't attended a health service for, if that makes sense." NHS Staff 1



3. Assault attendances to all Merseyside A&Es

The Trauma and Injury intelligence Group (TIIG)⁸ sits within the Public Health Institute at LJMU and provides access to reliable violence and injury information from A&Es, walk-in centres, Ambulance Services, Police, and Fire and Rescue Services across areas within England and Wales. TIIG enables the identification and monitoring of trends in intentional and unintentional injuries, providing rich and timely data, which are not available from alternative sources. TIIG data relates to all injury types including falls, deliberate self-harm, road traffic collisions and assaults.

Within Merseyside, TIIG is commissioned by the MVRP to provide a violence data hub bringing together all these datasets for use in identifying at risk groups for violence, targeting and evaluating interventions and identifying hotspot areas. For A&Es specifically across Merseyside, non-identifiable record level attendance data is shared with TIIG monthly on assaults and other injuries. This data is cleaned, standardised, processed and uploaded to the data hub, broken down by demographics (age, sex, ethnicity, area of residence), nature of the attendance (arrival mode, referral mode, outcome) and further details relating to the assault (location, weapon etc). TIIG conduct regular data quality work with A&Es, namely A&E reception managers and reception teams, who primarily collect this data, with a particular focus on those additional assault questions. Table 1 provides an overview of the additional assault data which can be collected by each A&E in Merseyside.

Assault data items	Aintree	Royal Liverpool	Southport & Ormskirk	Whiston	Alder Hey	Arrowe Park
Assault date	~	\checkmark	\checkmark	~	~	✓
Assault time	~	\checkmark	\checkmark	~	~	✓
Incident location type	~	~	~	~	~	~
Incident location details	✓	×	\checkmark	✓	~	✓
Assault weapon	~	×	✓	✓	~	~
Assault weapon details	~	✓	\checkmark	~	~	~
Alcohol consumed prior to incident	✓	×	\checkmark	✓	×	✓
Location last drink consumed	~	✓	\checkmark	~	×	~
Location details last drink consumed	✓	×	\checkmark	✓	×	✓
Relationship to attacker	✓	×	\checkmark	✓	×	✓
Reported to police	×	×	✓	✓	×	~
Previously assaulted by attacker	×	×	×	✓	×	✓
Number of attackers	×	×	✓	~	×	~
Attacker consumed alcohol	×	×	×	~	×	~
Gender of attacker	×	×	✓	\checkmark	×	×

Table 1: Merseyside A&E assault data collection

⁸ <u>https://tiig.ljmu.ac.uk/</u>



This section provides information on assault-related A&E attendances to all Merseyside A&Es to inform future Navigator Programme implementation. Data analyses focuses on children and young people aged 10-24 only (the target age group of the Navigator Programme), unless otherwise stated.

3.1 Hospital trust

Across June 2021 to May 2022, in total there were 4,485 assault-related attendances across Merseyside A&Es; of these, 28.3% attended Aintree, 23.5% Arrowe Park, 21.7% Royal Liverpool, 16.5% Whiston, 6.7% Southport and 3.3% Alder Hey. A third (33.3%; n=1,461) of all assault-related attendances across Merseyside A&Es were aged 10-24 years; of these, 26.6% attended Arrowe Park, 23.5% Royal Liverpool, 19.6% Aintree, 14.6% Whiston, 9.5% Alder Hey and 3.2% Southport.

3.2 Gender

Across June 2021 to May 2022, 68.6% of all assault attendances to Merseyside A&Es were male (ranging from 64.4% at Alder Hey to 72.8% at Royal Liverpool; Figure 7a). Similar proportions were found when exploring attendees aged 10-24 years only (Figure 7b).



Figure 7a: Assault-related A&E attendances (all ages) to Merseyside A&Es by gender and A&E, June 2021-May 2022







3.3 Referral method, and time, day and month of attendance

The majority (65.5%) of assault-related attendances (aged 10-24 years) self-referred to the A&E; 8.4% were referred in by the emergency services (e.g. NWAS) and 7.3% via the police. October and March had the highest proportion of attendances (10.1% and 10.2% respectively), whilst December had the lowest (6.0%) (Figure 8). The majority of attendances were booked into A&E (Figure 9) between 4-7.59pm (21.2%) and 8pm-11.59pm (20.1%)⁹, and on a Saturday (19.2%) and Sunday (20.2%)¹⁰.



Figure 8: Number of assault-related A&E attendances (aged 10-24 years only) to Merseyside A&Es by A&E, June 2021-May 2022



Figure 9: Number of assault-related A&E attendances (aged 10-24 years only) to Merseyside A&Es by time and day, June 2021-May 2022

⁹ Followed by 14.4% between 12-3.59pm, 16.6% between 12-3.59am, 12.5% between 4-7.59am and 11.5% between 8-11.59am.

¹⁰ Followed by 14.3% on a Monday, 14.3% on a Tuesday, 11.4% on a Friday, 10.4% on a Thursday and 10.2% on a Wednesday.



3.4 Weapon of use and alcohol consumption

Over a quarter (28.9%) of assault-related attendances (aged 10-24 years) reported that the weapon used in their assault was a 'fist'. Just under one in ten reported that a 'combination of body parts' were used (9.4%) or the weapon was a blunt or sharp object/weapon¹¹ (8.2%). Across A&Es excluding Alder Hey, 23.6% of assault-related attendances (aged 10-24 years) were recorded as having consumed alcohol prior to the incident.

3.5 Outcome

The majority (60.3%) of assault-related attendances (aged 10-24 years) were discharged from the A&E (45.4% discharged, requiring no follow-up treatment; 14.9% discharged, with follow-up treatment to be provided by their GP). Over one in ten were referred to another clinic or healthcare provider (11.5%), just under one in ten (8.7%) were admitted to hospital and 14.6% had left the A&E department before being seen for treatment or having refused treatment.

¹¹ Including: Any blunt object, Bottle, Glass, Other bladed/sharp object and Other weapon.



4. Programme Theory of Change, Conclusion and Key Recommendations

A logic model of the Merseyside Navigator Programme has been developed based on the service evaluation findings (Figure 7). The logic model provides an overview of key programme activities, outputs and the expected short and long-term outcomes for children and young people and the wider system. Findings from this service evaluation have alluded some key findings regarding the early development and implementation of the Merseyside Navigator Programme. Whilst the programme has experienced many challenges to implementation across hospital sites, many of these have been or are close to being overcome. Referrals to the programme are increasing, and some positive outcomes and impacts for children and young people, and their families are starting to emerge. Despite this, further work is needed to ensure successful programme implementation across hospital sites and to increase the number of referrals to the programme implementation, and to develop evidence on the outcomes and impacts of the programme. To support continued implementation, and programme monitoring and evaluation, we recommend the following activities.

Strategic

- Develop a strategy for identifying and securing long-term funding for the Merseyside Navigator Programme, to ensure adequate delivery time (e.g., 24 months) to establish, implement and assess outcomes, and if relevant expand to wider NHS settings.
- Increase awareness of the programme and role of Navigators across NHS Trusts, ensuring senior leadership, managers and front-line staff are able to fully support the programme, and refer relevant patients to the Navigators.
- Develop a strategy for monitoring and measuring outcomes and impacts, including impacts for children and young people and wider beneficiaries, and services (including repeat attendances to healthcare settings across the region), and commission an on-going process and impact evaluation over 12-18 months.
- Liaise with other Navigator/Hospital Based Violence Reduction Programmes to share learning.

Programme implementation

- Continue to review operating times and locations to maximise face-to-face engagement with children and young people during reachable and teachable moments (considering access within the A&Es and in-patient settings).
- Using A&E/hospital attendance data and insights from NHS staff, work with hospital sites to identify the most adequate times and locations for Navigators to be on-site, tailored to the needs of patients and hospital set-ups (considering each hospital has its own unique set-up, culture and patient profile).
- Build processes for embedding Navigators within relevant teams and departments across hospital sites.
- Provide clarity to NHS staff on the aim of the Navigator Programme and role of Navigators, and critically the referral criteria and pathways. Consider whether children and young people presenting with wider vulnerabilities that may increase risk of exposure to violence or be the



result of previous exposure to violence (e.g., attendance due to substance use) should be eligible for referral to the programme.

- Recognise that due to the complexities in identifying and supporting children and young people presenting with violence-related injuries and wider vulnerabilities, the Navigators initial engagement and assessment processes may go beyond the anticipated 2–3-week period.
- Consider the value of each hospital trust providing safeguarding supervision for Navigators.

Programme monitoring and evaluation

- Consider the challenges and limitations of existing programme management and monitoring systems, and where feasible adapt routine data collection processes to ensure processes of implementation and outcomes and impacts can be fully captured and evidenced.
- Ensure the client journey captures the 'light touch' pre-engagement work that Navigators implement for some patients, prior to initial assessment (considering also that some may not go on to engage in the initial assessment). This pre-engagement work should be considered in programme monitoring. The implications of this for future impact evaluation should also be considered.

Box 5: Recommendations for developing routine monitoring data

- Add a variable on the IAPTUS system to record reasons for non-engagement. (e.g., child/young person declined support, parent declined support, ineligible, engaged with other services, no contact established etc.). Ensure this can distinguish between no contact being established and successfully contacted and offered support but declined engagement.
- Ensure quantitative data is captured to demonstrate each of the different stages of engagement with the child/young person and referral pathways. Formal processes for recoding actions would aide understanding of child/young person's progression (as opposed to word documents which will vary in detail and from Navigator to Navigator)
- Examine the implementation of distance-travelled measures (SDQ and Distance travelled tool) to identity why levels of completion are low, the utility of the tools for programme implementation and acceptability amongst children and young people.



Figure 7: Merseyside Navigator Programme Theory of Change

Inputs	Key Activities		Outputs		Outcomes – Impacts*		
MVRP funding for	CRISIS AND SAFETY SUPPORT Potential eligible children & young people (CYP) identified in AHFT / LUFTH: e.g. A&E, wards, safeguarding teams, major trauma centre		Number & demographics of CYP		Shorter-term	Medium-term	Longer-term
programme /Navigators & project management &			referred / screened / contacted Number & demographics of successful follow-up conversations		CYP recognises vulnerability / seriousness of situation	Increased trust in services / willingness to work with partners	Reduction in violence victimisation / perpetration victimisation victimisation Reduction in re-attendance re-injury Improved mental & physical health & wellbeing
safeguarding	NHS staff make referral (direct/online) / Navigator directly identifies potential referrals whilst onsite				CYP (and where relevant parent/guardians) needs	Increased feelings of safety	
support Partner support			Number & demographics of CYP who go on to access support from		are identified and supported	Improved & positive relationships for CYP	
for programme: e.g. MVRP, MYA,	Initial engagement (re		Navigator & progression partners		Improved knowledge &	(family/ peer/ community)	Reduction in presentation at
health, third sector	moment) & safeguarding assessment STABILISATION SUPPORT		Number of attended appointments/ongoing engagement in interventions	reflection (teachable moment) that enable CYP to make positive changes, set goals & utilise support	Increased motivation, sense of belonging & aspirations	police custody suites, health other criminal justice service	
Multi-agency data to inform intervention delivery (via MVRP data hub)	Initial assessment: statutory involvement; provision of 1-to-1 support; needs assessment; goal planning; identification of	Improved attendance &					
		Number of CYP taking u		to reduced risk Increased knowledge of support services for CYP	Development of self- regulatory behaviours; coping strategies; social, emotional &	attainment of CYP at sch / in training	
	progression partners	· ·				nterventions	Increased sustained
	Supported signposting, e.g., emotional wellbeing, therapy/self-regulation support,	Patient feedback & case studies		CYP build a safe, trusted &	communication skills; &	employment	
Review of	w of speech and language, neurodiversity support		Additional programme	0	open relationship with trusted adult (Navigator)	pro-social behaviours	Reduced engagement in risky & violent behaviours Reduced involvement in criminal activity
consultation with	MAINTENANCE SUPPO	RT	data e.g. reason for referral, referral access point, reasons for non-engagement, initial & end assessments of progress (e.g.	CYP 'navigated' towards more positive life choices/experiences	Increased resilience Increased professional knowledge of trauma informed practice &		
	Person centred sup interventions delivered						
Support from	oort from emic aners/ 3-month follow-up with Navigator (distance travelled; needs assessment) – exit or ongoing support		outcomes star; Strengths & Difficulties Questionnaire)		Increased use of support services by CYP	violence prevention Enhanced safeguarding in	Reduced risk of exploitation
academic					Increased feelings of support for the CYP	hospitals	Reduction in costs to the healthcare system & wider partners

Figure 7: Merseyside Navigator Programme Evaluation Logic Model

Outcomes could be measured quantitatively via: MYA assessments - Strengths & Difficulties Questionnaire; Outcomes star (resiliency, safety, motivation, sense of belonging, aspirations); NHS data- repeat A&E attendances/hospital admissions

Produced by Z Quigg at the Public Health Institute, Liverpool John Moores University (September 2022)



5. References

Bates R et al. (2022) Evaluation of the implementation of Operation Empower across Merseyside *Police Force*. Liverpool. Public Health Institute, Liverpool John Moores University.

Bell Z & Quigg Z. (2022). *Evaluation of the Beacon Project*. Liverpool. Public Health Institute, Liverpool John Moores University.

Brice JM, Boyle AA. Are ED-based violence intervention programmes effective in reducing revictimisation and perpetration in victims of violence? A systematic review. *Emergency Medicine Journal* 2020;37:489-495.

Butler N et al. (2022a). *Evaluation of the Mentors in Violence Prevention (MVP) Programme across Merseyside 2021/22*. Liverpool. Public Health Institute, Liverpool John Moores University.

Butler N et al. (2022b). *Service evaluation of Redthread's Youth Violence Intervention Programme (YVIP) across the Midlands.* Liverpool. Public Health Institute, Liverpool John Moores University.

Goodall C et al. (2017). Navigator: A Tale of Two Cities. Glasgow. Scotland Violence Reduction Unit.

Harrison R et al. (2022). *Evaluation to examine the whole system family approach to supporting those who have been imprisoned / people on probation and reduce reoffending.* Liverpool. Public Health Institute, Liverpool John Moores University.

McCoy E et al. (2022). *Evaluation of the Red Umbrella Project.* Liverpool. Public Health Institute, Liverpool John Moores University.

The Health Foundation (2020). *Redthread YVIP Adoption and Spread*. London. The Health Foundation.

Newbury A et al. (2022). A Service Evaluation of the Delivery and Implementation of a Hospital-Based Violence Prevention Team within the University Hospital of Wales. Cardiff. Wales Violence Prevention Unit.

Quigg Z et al. (2020) *Evaluation of the Merseyside Violence Reduction Partnership 2019-20 (Final Report)*. Liverpool. Public Health Institute, Liverpool John Moores University.

Quigg Z et al. (2021). *Merseyside Violence Reduction Partnership 2020-21: Whole System Evaluation Report.* Liverpool. Public Health Institute, Liverpool John Moores University.

Quigg Z et al. (2022). Merseyside Violence Reduction Partnership Whole System Evaluation Report: 2021-22. Liverpool. Public Health Institute, Liverpool John Moores University.

Youth Endowment Fund (2022). *YEF Toolkit (online).* Available at: <u>https://youthendowmentfund.org.uk/toolkit/</u> Accessed 30/09/22.